THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000066

---

RECEIVED  
JAN 10 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Pickens County,

Appellant,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control and  
MRR Pickens, LLC,

Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Amy E. Armstrong  
Amelia A. Thompson  
Michael G. Corley  
SOUTH CAROLINA ENVIRONMENTAL LAW  
PROJECT

Mailing address: Post Office Box 1380  
Pawleys Island, SC 29585

Office address: 430 Highmarket Street  
Georgetown, SC 29440

Telephone (843) 527-0078

FAX (843) 527-0540

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Administrative Law Court err in dismissing Pickens County's challenge to a DHEC permitting decision as untimely, prior to resolving whether DHEC had complied with the proper notice procedures for that decision?
- II. Did the Administrative Law Court err in dismissing Pickens County's challenge to a DHEC permitting decision on the basis of administrative exhaustion, when DHEC acted outside the scope of its authority in relation to the issuance of such decision and when Pickens County's challenge raises issues of critical public interest?
- III. Did the Administrative Law Court err in denying Pickens County the opportunity for discovery, while granting Respondents' motions to dismiss based on evidence outside of the pleadings and resolving conflicting evidence in favor of Respondents?
- IV. May Respondents shield themselves with the doctrine of administrative exhaustion when any such failure on the part of Appellant is directly attributable to Respondents' misrepresentations and misinformation?
- V. Should an administrative decision issued through an improper process and for an improper purpose be protected by the filing deadlines established for challenging a validly issued administrative decision and by the doctrine of administrative exhaustion?
- VI. Did the Administrative Law Court err in dismissing this case on the basis of timeliness, prior to resolving the status of proposed intervenors who have different bases for asserting timeliness?

## **I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This matter is before the Court on appeal from an order of the South Carolina Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) dismissing challenges to the permit modification issued to MRR Pickens, LLC (“MRR”) by the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”). On August 10, 2015, DHEC issued the permit modification to MRR to allow certain class three landfill features to be installed in its previously permitted class two landfill, on which construction had not begun (the “Permit Modification”). DHEC decided to issue the Permit Modification for MRR’s class two landfill in Pickens County (“the County”) as a “minor” modification under DHEC’s regulations, rather than a “major” modification, a decision which holds significant implications for public notice and public involvement in DHEC’s regulatory process.

On March 23, 2016, the County filed a request for review before the DHEC Board. On April 21, 2016, the DHEC Board denied review. On May 19, 2016, Pickens County filed a request for contested case hearing in the ALC. On July 28, 2016, DHEC filed a motion to dismiss. On July 29, 2016, MRR filed a motion to dismiss and a motion to stay discovery. On August 18, 2016, Robert L. Traber, Matthew S. Stone, Randolph E. Revis, Sr. by P.R. Randy Martin, Tony Charping and Randall King, (collectively “Neighboring Property Owners”), filed a motion to intervene. On September 7, 2016, Judge Robinson held a conference call with the parties and decided, among other things, to grant MRR’s motion to stay discovery and to hold the motion to intervene in abeyance pending the court’s decision on the motions to dismiss. Judge Robinson held a hearing on the motions to dismiss on December 2, 2016. On December 12, 2016, the ALC dismissed the case by order, for failure to exhaust administrative remedies, based on the purported untimeliness of Pickens County’s request for review before the DHEC Board. On January

11, 2017, Pickens County filed a notice of appeal in this Court. On March 29, 2017, Neighboring Property Owners filed a motion to be included as parties to this appeal. This Court denied that motion on the basis that the Neighboring Property Owners were not aggrieved by an order, because the ALC had never ruled on their motion to intervene.

## **II. ARGUMENT**

As will be explained fully herein, Appellant has a number of independent bases for relief upon which this Court should reverse the ALC's order of dismissal and remand this case for consideration on the merits.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

On the whole, this case can be conveniently thought of as encompassing three main questions: (1) whether the modifications DHEC authorized to MRR's landfill are "minor" or "major" under DHEC's regulations; (2) whether the challenges to those modifications brought by Pickens County and the Neighboring Property Owners are administratively barred on the basis of timeliness; and (3) whether the modifications are justifiable under DHEC's landfill regulations (the merits). A major part of this appeal relates to the order in which these questions should have been considered by the ALC.

The ALC's order of dismissal is the proverbial example of putting the cart before the horse. First of all, under the circumstances presented here, it is a logical impossibility to properly assess timeliness prior to addressing whether DHEC's authorized modifications are actually "minor." Yet, the ALC does exactly that, determining the County's challenge to be untimely under a statute (S.C. Code § 44-1-60) that is predicated on proper notice and process being provided by DHEC, while declining to consider persuasive argument and evidence that DHEC failed significantly in its public notice obligations. Issuance of a landfill

permit modification under the “minor” designation effectively takes place outside of public knowledge and view. On the other hand, “major” modifications require multiple levels of direct public notice, which would have included notice to the County and the other individuals who sought to be admitted as parties in this appeal. In treating this landfill modification as “minor,” seemingly for the very purpose of shielding the action from the public, DHEC denied the County proper notice and procedure, and such action therefore cannot trigger the time limitations applied by the ALC. In this regard, the ALC failed by not taking up the “minor” versus “major” distinction before granting dismissal. Making matters worse, the ALC also granted dismissal prior to considering intervention of the Neighboring Property Owners. The logic of the ALC’s dismissal of Pickens County, which is based on informal notice provided to the County, falls apart completely when applied to the Neighboring Property Owners. The ALC offered no explanation in its dismissal order or otherwise for simply never addressing the status of these individuals with the largest personal stake in DHEC’s decision.

On top of ignoring necessary components of the timeliness analysis, the ALC improperly applied legal principles upon which the timeliness requirement is inapplicable in this instance. When DHEC acts outside the scope of its authority and impedes public notice and participation, the agency cannot then lean upon the concepts of timeliness and administrative exhaustion to protect its action. The underlying permit decision at issue in this case was issued through an improper process and for an improper purpose, and state precedent strongly reflects that such decision is not then shielded by the requirement of administrative exhaustion, nor the filing deadlines that would apply for a validly issued administrative decision. Further, even counting from DHEC’s dubious issuance of the “minor” modification, courts retain the inherent ability

to equitably toll the administrative deadlines at play in this case, but the ALC's consideration of its authority in this regard was fundamentally flawed.

Finally, the ALC relied on outside evidence submitted by the Respondents in support of their motions to dismiss, while denying Pickens County the opportunity to conduct the discovery necessary to counter that evidence or to support its own contentions. The ALC's conclusions on dismissal necessarily required the weighing of disputed evidence, and that weighing did not land in favor of Pickens County. The ALC effectively converted the proceedings to summary judgment, while artificially limiting the scope of analysis and misapplying the standard of review, all to Pickens County's significant detriment.

On the independent basis of any of these arguments, as explained and expounded upon herein, reversal is appropriate.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

##### *The Initial Plan for the Landfill:*

By at least 2007, MRR was pursuing construction of a landfill at 2180 Greenville Highway in Liberty, Pickens County, South Carolina. (R. p. 303, ¶ 3). This pursuit included discussions and negotiations with Pickens County, in order to accomplish compliance with the County's development standards and comprehensive plan. These discussions led to the parties executing a Development Agreement and Host Agreement for the landfill. (See R. pp. 361-80). These agreements specify that MRR will develop and operate a "Construction and Demolition ('C&D') and Land Clearing Debris ('LCD') landfill" and that Pickens County will serve as the Host Local Government for such operation. (R. pp. 362-63). The Host Agreement requires MRR to comply with DHEC's applicable rules and requirements and to simultaneously submit to Pickens County all reports submitted to DHEC. (*Id.* ("All reports required to

be submitted to DHEC by MRR Pickens, LLC must be simultaneously submitted to the County Administrator.”)) In both Agreements, waste disposal is limited to the types of materials designated in the DHEC regulations as “Class Two,” such as C&D, LCD, and yard trash. (R. pp. 364, 372).

Following execution of these agreements with the County, DHEC issued MRR a Class 2 C&D landfill permit, Permit No. LF2-00003 (“2008 Permit”), on November 3, 2008. (R. p. 164). The 2008 Permit contained the following special condition as to the nature of waste authorized for disposal: “This permit is limited solely to the disposal of items listed in Appendix I of R.61-107.19. All other wastes, including animal carcasses, are prohibited from disposal in this landfill.” (Id.). Regulatory Appendix I, as referenced in the special condition, lists “acceptable waste for class two landfills” and contains materials typically associated with land clearing, yard work, and construction, such as: brush and limbs, logs, rock, masonry, paint cans, glass, pipes, and plaster. R. 61-107.19, Appendix I. Certainly no materials akin to coal ash are listed; indeed, less hazardous materials like tar are specifically excluded. See Id. at note 3. The Host Agreement, Development Agreement, and 2008 Permit are consistent in terms of the nature of waste authorized for disposal.

The 2008 Permit was also in accord with the Pickens County’s Solid Waste Management Plan (“SWMP”), which is a local planning document required by state law. See S.C. Code § 44-96-80. Consistency with the SWMP is a necessary prerequisite to obtaining a landfill permit. S.C. Reg. 61-107.19, Part I, D(2). Pickens County’s SWMP prohibits “Special Waste” from being deposited in Pickens County and excludes all Class Three landfills (designed to accept more dangerous and undesirable wastes) from being located in the County. (R. p. 359). The SWMP contrasts Class Two Landfills with Class Three Landfills, which are designed to receive wastes such as sludge and incinerator ash. (Id.).

For the years from 2008 to 2014, MRR delayed proceeding with development of the landfill for which it had received approval, informing DHEC each year that the economic downturn warranted postponement of development, and requesting and obtaining permit extensions. (R. p. 389, ¶ 11).

*The Modification Process Between MRR & DHEC:*

In 2014 and 2015, MRR and DHEC conducted a series of meetings and discussions regarding modifications to the landfill design in the 2008 Permit. (R. p. 166). At no time during these meetings and interactions was notification provided to Pickens County, Neighboring Property Owners, the public, or anyone outside of MRR, its consultant, and DHEC. (R. p. 163). Neither MRR nor DHEC sought to verify with Pickens County whether the design modifications under discussion would conform with the Pickens County SWMP, Host Agreement, or Development Agreement. (*Id.*). During this period, MRR's engineering consultant submitted several engineering drawings and reports to DHEC that reflect a plan to effectively convert the Class 2 landfill reflected in the 2008 Permit into a Class 3 landfill.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 166). Those reports reflect the following observation from MRR's consultant: **"During recent meetings between MRR and DHEC, it was confirmed that a modification of the Class Two Landfill Permit to meet the requirements of Regulation R.61.107.19 Part V Class Three Landfills would require a minor permit modification."** (*Id.* (emphasis added)). In other words, DHEC communicated to MRR during these surreptitious meetings that MRR could modify the design of its landfill that had been presented

---

<sup>1</sup>In layman's terms, Class Three landfills are the most hazardous and obtrusive of the classes provided in DHEC's landfill regulations. As a consequence, these landfills require more stringent design specifications, larger buffers between environmental resources and neighboring property, and larger buffers between each other. See R.61.107.19, Part V. Class Three landfills must have liners because the facilities can be used for disposal of municipal solid waste, industrial solid waste, sewage sludge, and incinerator ash. *Id.*

to Pickens County and the public, so as to accept significantly more hazardous materials, while satisfying only the substantially diminished public notice and review requirements for a “minor permit modification.”

The purpose of the course of action between MRR and DHEC, including DHEC’s “confirmation” that this would be a “minor modification,” was to bypass notifying Pickens County and the public of this landfill design change that was certain to be highly controversial. (R. p. 170). DHEC’s “minor” label on MRR’s modification substantially reduced the Respondents’ public notice obligations and prevented affected parties, such as Pickens County and Neighboring Property Owners, from participating in the agency process. DHEC’s regulations require “major” permit modifications to go through the same permitting process as new landfills, including the requirements for public notification and participation. See S.C. Reg. 61-107.19, Part IV, I.2; S.C. Reg. 61-107.19, Part I, D(2). The public notice requirements for new landfills / major modifications include five separate local newspaper publications and five separate instances of direct notice by mail to adjoining landowners and affected parties, occurring at all stages of the permitting process from pre-application to final decision. See S.C. Reg. 61-107.19, Part I, D(2)(a)-(g). The culmination of these required notifications would have been DHEC’s notice of department decision on the permit, published and mailed to affected persons along with “instructions on how to request a final review conference and the time frame for filing such a request.” Id. at D(2)(g); (R. pp. 490-92). None of these notice requirements were followed in relation to the Permit Modification. Instead, acting under the “minor modification” moniker, DHEC and MRR did not provide contemporaneous notice in any form

to any member of the public and did not provide any form of notice to Pickens County until months after the Permit Modification had been issued. (R. p. 163).<sup>2</sup>

In reality, the modifications from the 2008 Permit can only be reasonably interpreted as “major,” per DHEC’s regulatory definition, and DHEC’s agreement with MRR to characterize these modifications as “minor” was erroneous. “Modification,” under DHEC’s landfill regulations, includes any “changes to a solid waste landfill.” S.C. Reg.61-107.19, Part I, B(48). The modification is then categorized as either “minor” or “major” by definition as follows:

- a. “Minor modification” means a change that keeps the permit current with **routine changes to the facility or its operations, or an administrative change**; and,
- b. “Major modification” means a change that **substantially alters the facility or its operations**, e.g., tonnage increase above 25%, any volumetric capacity increase, **alternate designs** that vary from the design prescribed in this regulation.

Id. (emphasis added). Under no conception of the words could the changes authorized by the Permit Modification be considered “routine” or “administrative.”

Rather, on August 10, 2015, when DHEC issued the Permit Modification to MRR, it authorized significant changes from the 2008 Permit, including: the addition of a landfill liner, which is a characteristic of Class Three landfills and is not present in any other Class Two landfill in the state, (R. pp. 164, 285-87); other design changes from Class Two to Class Three characteristics, including changes in the final landfill

---

<sup>2</sup>Even with the “minor” label on the modification, the regulations still require MRR to publish a public notice in the newspaper and provide DHEC with adjacent landowners’ contact information. S.C. Reg. 61-107.19, Part IV, H.2e. & H.3. No such publication or adjacent landowner information was provided in relation to the Permit Modification. Minor modifications also require DHEC and MRR to demonstrate or determine consistency with the Pickens County SWMP and other local ordinances. Id. at Part IV.H.1.b. No consistency demonstration or determination was undertaken by DHEC or MRR. If this had been done, it may have provided the County with some opportunity for notice and involvement during the application process.

cover, (R. p. 164-65); elimination of language prohibiting “all other wastes” and replacement of that language with an allowance for “any other waste approved by the Department,” (R. p. 468); and allowance for disposal of “special wastes”, which are defined as “nonresidential or commercial solid wastes, other than regulated hazardous wastes, that are either difficult or dangerous to handle and require unusual management at municipal solid waste landfills,” (S.C. Code § 44-96-390; R. p. 229).<sup>3</sup>

Both the 2008 Permit and the 2015 Permit Modification were issued and signed by Kent Coleman, then director of the Division of Mining and Solid Waste Management at DHEC. In a related case pending in Common Pleas Court, MRR Pickens, LLC v. Pickens County, et al., Mr. Coleman was deposed on March 8, 2016, with counsel for MRR and DHEC present. Mr. Coleman provided sworn testimony as to the “major” / “minor” distinction as follows:

- Coleman admitted that the definition of “major modification” in the relevant regulation includes “alternate designs.” (R. p. 242, line 11-p.243, line 6; p. 243, lines 20-21).
- Coleman admitted that the definition of “minor modification” does not include “alternate designs.” (R. p. 243, lines 7-10).
- Coleman admitted that he previously, in a letter signed by him on August 10, 2015, accompanying the Permit Modification, characterized the Permit Modification as an “alternate liner design” and as a “design change.” (R. p. 243, line 20-p. 245, line 2).

---

<sup>3</sup>MRR’s application for the Permit Modification asks for approval to accept “certain special wastes” into its landfill. (R. p. 276). Further, the August 2015 engineering report from MRR’s consultant included disposal of “special wastes” and was incorporated into the Permit Modification. (R. p. 468-69). Finally, the 2008 Permit contained a clause prohibiting all other wastes, and the Permit Modification contained no such clause, instead allowing any other wastes approved by DHEC. (R. p. 468).

- Coleman admitted that the Permit Modification was a “design change.” (R. p. 245, lines 3-16).
- Coleman admitted that when DHEC determines a proposed landfill change to be a “major modification,” that “we would have followed our normal process, which would include [notice to] adjacent owners, concerned parties, local governments.” (R. p. 246, lines 13-22).

Mr. Coleman also engaged in the following exchange, which Appellant takes as equivalent to a direct admission that the Permit Modification is “major”:

Q. In answers to Ms. King’s questions one time today, you said this was a “new design for the landfill.” Is that a fair statement?

A. Yeah, I mean it is.

Q. Okay.

A. It was a new design.

Q. And I wrote down also a quote earlier today when your answer to Ms. King’s questions that this was “essentially the same design as a Class Three.”

A. Yes, I recall saying that, yes.

Q. Alright. And that is basically the change from the ‘08 to the 2015 modification was essentially the same design as a Class Three. Is that right?

A. Yes, uh-huh.

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