THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JAN 08 2018

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT
Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000066

Pickens County,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health
and Environmental Control and
MRR Pickens, LLC,.....

Respondents,

**FINAL BRIEF OF
RESPONDENT MRR PICKENS, LLC**

Robert F. Goings (S.C. Bar # 74855)
Jessica L. Gooding (S.C. Bar # 101210)
Goings Law Firm, LLC
914 Richland Street, Suite A-101
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Telephone: (803) 350-9230
Email: rgoings@goingslawfirm.com

Jessica J.O. King (S.C. Bar #11202)

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

THE COURT: Well why wasn’t that done? Let’s get to the arguments on your equitable tolling:

MR. POLIAKOFF: The County was trying to figure out what to do.

(R. p. 119:1-21).

MRR does not waive its argument that the Minor Permit Modification Decision was not required to be public noticed or mailed to Appellant or any other parties, because it was properly treated as “minor” modification and because no parties asked to be treated as “affected persons” when the Permit was originally issued in 2008. Notwithstanding this position, any statements made in the December, 2015, meeting between staff of DHEC and Appellant do not trigger the drastic remedy of equitable estoppel in this case. Appellant presented no evidence to the ALC that: (1) misrepresentations as to the facts and its rights were made by DHEC; (2) it had no means of knowledge to the facts; and (3) it relied on those statements to its detriment. Therefore, equitable estoppel should not be provided here.

v. **The ALC properly dismissed the case for failure to exhaust administrative remedies and not Rules 12b(6) or 56, SCRCP.**

Appellant tries to distract the Court from its admitted failure to file its RFR within fifteen (15) days of receiving actual notice by improperly characterizing the lower court’s ruling as one for summary judgment. Appellant gets there by first arguing the parties motions to dismiss were based on Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, even though no party’s motion was based on Rule 12(b)(6). Appellant then takes another leap and argues, because the lower court looked outside the Request for Contested Case Hearing document (“the complaint”), the motions to dismiss were converted to motions for summary judgment under Rule 56 of the SCRCP and granted as such. Appellant then says because the lower court looked outside of the facts stated in its “complaint” to find it had actual notice (which is not allowed in ruling on summary judgment) the lower court ruling should be overturned. This argument is creative but has no basis in fact or procedure.

Here, MRR and DHEC’s Motions to Dismiss were not Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, motions and the Order of the Court was not based on Rule 12(b)(6). Also, neither MRR nor DHEC moved,

in the alternative, on Rule 56, SCRCP. Therefore, the ALC was not required to look only at the Complaint (or Request for Contested Case) to decide whether Appellant exhausted its administrative remedies. Rather, MRR's motion was made pursuant to Rules 11, 19 and 38 of the SCALCR and Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCP. MRR's motion was also pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60(A)-(E) and 1-23-380 of the APA. Failure to comply with the S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60 fifteen (15) day timeframe to file a RFR with the Board, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, is grounds for dismissal for failure to exhaust administrative remedies. This is the basis of the lower court's decision.

As stated above, the lower court held that Appellant cannot request the ALC hear its review because the Court lacked appellate jurisdiction over the appeal. Great Games, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't. of Revenue, 339 S.C. 79, 82, 529 S.E.2d 6, 7 n. 5 (2000); Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assocs., 394 S.C. 185, 188-89, 714 S.E.2d 547, 549-50 (2011) (noting it is a general rule "that an appellate body may not extend the time to appeal"). The lower court correctly held that it did not have appellate jurisdiction over the Appellant's request where it failed to timely file its RFR with the DHEC Board. The lower court determined the facts in the pleadings and oral arguments supported a finding that Appellant failed to comply with S.C. Code Ann. § 44-1-60 and thus, could not avail itself of judicial review under S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A). The lower court did not hold that Appellant failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action under Rule 12(b)(6), S.C. R. Civ. P. – and no party asked the Court to do so. Therefore, cases cited by Appellant addressing conversion of Rule 12(b)(6) motions to Rule 56 motions are not relevant to this matter.⁵

⁵ Appellant has misrepresented the facts and findings in the case law cited to support its position. Regarding, conversion to Rule 12(b)(6), the Appellant cites to Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc. case for support. Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.; citing Unisys Corp. v. SC Budget and

B. The ALC correctly denied Pickens County’s request for discovery.

On July 29, 2016, MRR moved the ALC to stay all discovery in this matter until the ALC adjudicated the Motion to Dismiss filed by MRR contemporaneously to the Motion to Stay Discovery and issued a final decision on same.

Rule 26(b)(1), SCRCF, provides parties “may obtain discovery regarding any matter, not privileged, which is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending action.” However, Rule 26(c) provides that “[u]pon motion by a party . . . and for good cause shown, the court in which the action is pending . . . may make any order which justice requires to protect a party or person from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden by expense, including . . . that the discovery not be had.” Similarly, ALC Rule 21(A) provides “[u]pon motion for good cause shown or upon his own motion, discovery may be expanded or curtailed by the administrative law judge.”

Control Bd., 346 S.C. 158, 551 S.E. 2d 263 (S.C. Aug. 14, 2001)). The Capital City Ins. case, cites Unisys Corp. v. SC Budget & Cntrl Bd. for the proposition that 12(b)(6) can be the appropriate method to dismiss a case for failure to exhaust administrative remedies. Unisys Corp. v. SC Budget and Control Bd., 346 S.C. 158, 551 S.E. 2d 263 (S.C. S.Ct. (Aug. 14, 2001)). However, Unisys involved a lawsuit filed in circuit court not as an appeal of an administrative review board’s decision, but as a separate suit running parallel to the administrative process. The State moved to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1), 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(8). The Court held that the procedure in the Procurement Code was the exclusive means of resolving the dispute and of the three motions plead, both 12(b)(6) and 12(b)(8) (since the procurement appeal was still pending) were proper bases for dismissal. Again, 12(b)(6) was not pled in this case by any party. To jump from a 12(b)(6) case to a summary judgment ruling, Appellant cites to Brown v. James, 389 S.C. 41, 48–49, 697 S.E.2d 604, 608 (Ct. App. 2010). In Brown, the lower court did not, *sua sponte*, convert the case from a Rule 12(b)(1) to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, then convert the Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss to a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment. Rather, in that case, the Defendant Superintendent filed “a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCF, or in the alternative, a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56, SCRCF.” Brown v. James, 389 S.C. 41, 48–49, 697 S.E.2d 604, 608 (Ct. App. 2010) The lower court there dismissed the case for failure to exhaust administrative remedies. The Court of Appeals held the lower court based its decision on facts found during discovery (which was had in that case prior to the ruling) and not simply the facts in the complaint, and thus, the case was resolved under the plead and argued motion for summary judgment under Rule 56, not Rule 12(b)(6).

Rulings of the ALC in matters involving discovery “must not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” Hedgepath v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 348 S.C. 340, 352, 559 S.E.2d 327, 334 (Ct.App. 2001); Bayle v. South Carolina Dep’t of Transp., 344 S.C. 115, 542 S.E.2d 736 (Ct.App.2001), cert. denied. “An abuse of discretion occurs when there is no evidence to support the trial judge’ factual conclusion or when the ruling is based upon an error of law.” Id.

Here, in the interest of judicial economy and efficiency, and to avoid undue burden and expense on the parties, on September 7, 2016, the ALC correctly Ordered a stay of discovery pending final decision upon MRR’s Motion to Dismiss. (Respondents MRR and DHEC’s Joint Response in Opposition to Movant’s Motion to be included as Appellants, Exhibit D, April 10, 2017). The facts in which the Court based its decision on appeal are not in dispute: (1) DHEC provided public notice and actual notice of the 2008 permit to Appellant and all parties ; (2) no person, including the County and the interviewers requesting in writing to be treated as an “affected party” to any future decisions or the 2008 permit; (3) DHEC treated the modification in August of 2015 as “Minor” and did not public notice prior to issuance; (4) the Appellants received actual notice at the lasts on January 11, 2017; and (5) Appellants did not file their RFR with the DHEC Board until March 23, 2015. Discovery of in this case would not, could not have shed light on the only issue but the Court: why the county failed to file the RFR within 15 days of actual notice.

C. The ALC correctly dismissed the case on the basis of timeliness without addressing the request for intervention.

According to representations made by Appellant and DHEC records, Appellant received actual notice of the Minor Permit Modification in December of 2015 and received a copy of the Minor Permit Modification no later than January 11, 2016. (R. pp. 471-502; see also R. pp. 189-191) Appellant filed a RFR of the Minor Permit Modification on or about March 23, 2016. Robert

L. Traber, Matthew W. Stone, Randolph E. Revis, Sr. (P.R. Randy Martin), Tony Charping and Randall Kind (the “Neighboring Property Owners”) were not named as parties, were not referenced or identified in Appellants’ pleadings, or otherwise involved in Appellant’s RFR to the DHEC Board. On April 21, 2016, the DHEC Board declined in writing to hold a final review conference. After Appellant filed its Request for Consented Case (May 19, 2016), MRR and DHEC filed their Motions to Dismiss (July 25, 2016 and July 29, 2016), and MRR filed a Motion to Stay Discovery (July 29, 2016). Appellant then filed a Motion to Intervene on behalf of the Neighboring Property Owners (August 18, 2016). The Motion to Intervene was filed in an attempt to “cure” the untimeliness of the Appellants’ RFR to the DHEC Board.

On September 7, 2016, the ALC held a conference call with the parties whereby the Court listened to the bases of the pending motions and ruled via email the “Motion to Intervene be HELD IN ABEYANCE pending the Court’s decision on the Motions to Dismiss.” (Respondents MRR and DHEC’s Joint Response in Opposition to Movant’s Motion to be included as Appellants, Exhibit D, April 10, 2017).

On December 2, 2016, a hearing on the MRR and DHEC’s Motions to Dismiss was held at the ALC in Columbia, South Carolina. During the hearing, counsel for Appellants attempted to argue it’s Motion to Intervene. The transcript reflects the arguments made during the hearing and the ALC’s position on the attempt to prematurely argue those motions during the Motions to Dismiss hearing:

“MS. LINEN: Your Honor, Mr. Poliakoff continues to reference adjoining landowners and that they weren’t noticed about this decision, but he represents Pickens County.

THE COURT: Yes.

MS. LINEN: And I know he has a Motion to Intervene, but that had not been addressed and they have not intervened yet. So, I mean, I think that, you know, that he should contain his comments to his clients and not the clients that have not been brought into this case as of yet.

MR. POLIAKOFF: Your Honor ---

THE COURT: MR. Poliakoff, I do agree that, we're only -- the only parties to this action at this point is Pickens County and I have held your motion in abeyance on whether those adjoining landowners would be allowed to ---

(R. p. 123:3-19).

On December 12, 2016, the ALC issued an Order Granting Respondents' Motion to Dismiss. (R. pp. 1-5). Appellant did not file a Motion for Reconsideration of the ALC's order requesting that the Court consider its Motion to Intervene that was filed on August 18, 2016. (R. pp. 1-5). On January 11, 2017, Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal to this Court the Court's Order Granting MRR Pickens' Motion to Dismiss. The Neighboring Property Owners were not named in Appellant's Notice of Appeal to this Court because they were not parties to the lower case. On March 29, 2017, the Neighboring Property Owners served this Court with a Motion to be Included as Appellants. After consideration of Memoranda both in support of and in opposition to the motion, this Court denied the Motion to be Included as Appellants. (See Order Denying Intervenors Motion to be Included as Appellants, June 7, 2017).

i. **Neighboring Property Owners' Motion to Intervene in the underlying ALC case was moot and did not give rise to party status for the Neighboring Property Owners.**

Neighboring Property Owners argue because they filed a Motion to Intervene in the underlying ALC case, they were a party to the case and are now properly a party to this Appeal. Neighboring Property Owners implied the ALC had a duty to rule on their Motion to Intervene, notwithstanding the pending Motion to Dismiss. However, South Carolina Courts have

consistently held, where a Motion to Dismiss was filed prior to a Motion to Intervene, such that granting the Motion to Dismiss would make the Motion to Intervene moot, the Motion to Dismiss should be considered first. Western Carolina Regional Sewer Authority v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 96-ALJ-07-0547-CC, 1997 WL 435927 (April 10, 1997); Thomas and Victoria Rogers v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 01-ALJ-07-0402-CC, 2001 WL 139745 (October 23, 2001); Brenda Bryant v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 01-ALJ-07-0404-CC, 2001 WL 1326513 (October 9, 2001). Whether the matter was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction or procedural issues is not relevant. Where no judicial action exists in which to join in, there can be no intervention.

In Western Carolina, the ALC considered Western Carolina's motion to voluntarily dismiss a permit contest. Also before the ALC was a Motion to Intervene by Suitt Construction. Because dismissing the case would make the motion to intervene moot, the ALC dismissed the case. Western Carolina, 1997 WL 435927, at *1. Likewise, in Rogers the ALC held, where three motions were pending, one of which was a Motion to Dismiss, the motion to dismiss would be heard first. Rogers, 2001 WL 139745, at *1. The Court reasoned, if the case was dismissed, the issues raised in the other two motions were moot. Id. Finally, in Bryant the ALC held where multiple motions to dismiss were pending along with a motion to intervene, "[s]ince this order is issued based on the two motions to dismiss made by the Respondents, there is no reason to reach the issues" raised in the motion to intervene. Bryant, 2001 WL 1326513, at *4 (emphasis added). If in this scenario a Motion to Dismiss was granted, there would no longer be any judicial "action" into which a moving party could intervene, and the Motion to Intervene should not be granted. Id.; citing Ex Parte Reichlyn, 310 S.C. 495, 427 S.E.2d 661, 664 (1993)(holding because "Reichlyn's

motion to intervene was filed after DHEC and COCC entered into a consent order ... there is no ongoing judicial ‘action’ into which Reichlyn can intervene.”).

The case of S.C. Coastal Conservation League is also instructive in this matter. In that case, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a party that does not seek party status in the agency proceedings, as they properly could have done, removed themselves from an active role in the administrative decision making process. “Because they were not “parties,” as defined by the Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”), in the previous proceedings, Petitioners lack standing under the APA to challenge the resulting order.” S.C. Coastal Conservation League v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control, 97-ALJ-07-0763-CC, 1998 WL 229742, at *3 (Apr. 14, 1998); citing Home Health Services, Inc., 379 S.E.2d at 736 (Ct. App. 1989); David E. Shipley, South Carolina Administrative Law at 7-25 (2d ed. 1989) (to have standing to seek judicial review of an agency’s decision, a person aggrieved by a final decision in a contested case must have had standing in the initial agency proceeding, and he also must have participated in the case as a “party;” and if a person “received notice and decided not to participate in the agency proceeding, then he should not have standing to secure review.”).

Because Neighboring Property Owners’ attempt to intervene in the underlying ALC case was mooted by the Court’s grant of Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss, there was no judicial action into which Neighboring Property Owners may have intervened and Neighboring Property Owners were never a party to the case.

- ii. **Neighboring Property Owners’ are not a party to the underlying ALC case because they did not properly seek nor were they entitled to party status.**

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